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NORTHERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS

DALLAS DIVISION
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE )
COMMISSION, )
)
PLAINTIFF, )
)
V. ) Civil Action No.:
)
PATRICK O. HOWARD; ) $-17¢V-420-7;
HOWARD CAPITAL HOLDINGS, LLC; ) FILED UNDER SEAL
AND OPTIMAL ECONOMICS CAPITAL )
PARTNERS, LLC, )
)
DEFENDANTS. )

COMPLAINT

For its complaint against Defendants Patrick O. Howard, Howard Capital Holdings, LLC
(“Howard Capital”), and Optimal Economics Capital Partners, LLC (“OE Capital™), Plaintiff
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC” or “Commission”) alleges as follows:

Summary

1. Since February 2015, Howard Capital and OE Capital—companies owned and
controlled by Howard—have raised more than $13 million by selling securities in the form of
membership units (“Units”) in three Texas limited liability companies: (1) Insured Liquidity
Partners CFG I, LLC (“CFG I”), (2) Insured Liquidity Partners CFG II, LLC (“CFG II”"), and (3)
OE Capital Ventures, LLC (“OE Fund”) (collectively, the “Funds”). Howard operated each
company as an investment fund. He offered and sold Units in the funds personally and through
sales agents he employed at OE Capital. He also retained two other firms—C4 Benefits Group,
Inc. (*“C4 Benefits”), and Trajan Income, Inc. (“Trajan Income”)—paying them a 5%

commission to sell the Units.
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2. Howard has pursued an aggressive solicitation effort to sell the Units. He used
offering proceeds to fund a radio-advertising campaign to attract investors. The advertisements,
along with numerous written offering materials, contained representations that investors would
earn a 12% annual return at a minimum. The Funds purportedly generated this return over a
three-year investment period by investing in third-party portfolio companies in exchange of a
share of the companies’ revenue. Howard Capital, OE Capital, Howard, C4 Benefits, and Trajan
Income and sales agents they employed have offered and sold the Units in investment seminars,
in personal meetings, and by telephone and email.

3. In reality, the Defendants have perpetrated an egregious fraud on the Funds’
investors. They have misappropriated and misapplied offering proceeds. They have issued
investors phony account statements showing returns, which in fact did not exist. And they have
disseminated written offering materials containing numerous untrue and misleading statements
as to material facts, including the following:

e That investors would receive a minimum return of 12%, paid quarterly. In reality,
quarterly cash payments to investors were mostly Ponzi payments—taken from

other investors’ contributions.

e That the Funds achieved average growth of 20%. In reality, the Funds have
earned just $33,334 since inception, a growth rate of only 0.25%.

e That, for CFG II, “the Company is backing the minimum preferred yield and

principal with insurance based assets.” In reality, CFG II never purchased any
such insurance-based assets.

e That OE Fund would pay no sales commissions. In reality, OE Fund paid at least
$175,000 in sales commissions.

e That Howard was a Registered Investment Adviser (“RIA”). In reality Howard
was never an RIA.

4. The Defendants’ misappropriation and misapplication of offering proceeds began

shortly after the first fund’s inception in early 2015. For example, CFG I’s private-placement
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memorandum (“PPM”) represented that it would invest 89% of the offering proceeds in third-
party companies. In reality, CFG I raised $833,993, but it invested only $50,000 in one portfolio
company. Howard used the remaining proceeds to pay himself and expenses unrelated to CFG
I’s stated objectives.

5. Of the approximately $12.26 million raised in the CFG II and OE Fund offerings,
combined, Howard invested only approximately $7.4 million in portfolio companies as
promised. While the PPMs for these funds represented that they would use a minimum of 75%
of the offering proceeds for portfolio-company investment, the $7.4 million invested represented
just 60% of the total proceeds raised in these funds, far below the promised minimum.
Moreover, in addition to paying himself salary and bonus, Howard transferred $226,000 to his
personal bank account and paid an additional $197,000 to buy out a former business partner in
CFG 1. Finally, Howard used at least $146,000 of the offering proceeds from the CFG II and OE
Fund Investment programs to pay so-called returns to investors. In reality, these were Ponzi
payments.

6. Howard and his compaﬁies continue to offer and sell the Units at present. But
CFG L, CFG 11, and OE Fund are each financially incapable of meeting their obligation to pay
even the minimum return owed as of December 31, 2016, within the three-year investment
period.

7. By reason of the foregoing, Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital violated
and are continuing to violate Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) of the Securities Act of 1933
(“Securities Act”) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a), 77¢(c), and 77q(a)], Section 10(b) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act™) [15 U.S.C. §§ 78j(b) and 780(a)], and Exchange Act

Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].
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8. In the interest of protecting the public from further violations by the Defendants,
the SEC seeks, among other things, permanent injunctions, disgorgement plus prejudgment
interest, and civil money penalties from each Defendant.

Jurisdiction and Venue

9. The SEC brings this action under Securities Act Section 20(b) [15 U.S.C. §
77t(b)] and Exchange Act Section 21(d) [15 U“.S.C. § 78u(d)], seeking to restrain and enjoin the
Defendants permanently from engaging in such acts and practices as alleged herein.

10.  This Court has jurisdiction over this action under Securities Act Section 22(a) [15
U.S.C. § 77v(a)] and Exchange Act Sections 21(e) and 27 [15 U.S.C. §§ 78u(e) and 78aa). Each
of the Units offered and sold as described in this complaint is an investment contract and,
therefore, a “security” as that term is defined under Securities Act Section 2(a)(1) [15 U.S. C. §
77b(a)(1)] and Exchange Act Section 3(a)(10) [5 U.S. C. § 78c(a)(10)].

11.  The Defendants, directly and indirectly, made use of the mails or of the means
and instrumentalities of interstate commerce in connection with the transactions, acts, practices,
and courses of business described in this complaint.

12. Venue is proper because transactions, acts, practices, and courses of business
described in this complaint occurred within the Northern District of Texas.

Parties

13.  Plaintiff SEC is an agency of the United States of America charged with
enforcing the federal securities laws.

14. Defendant Howard, an individual aged 46, resides in Dallas, Texas.

15.  Defendant Howard Capital is a Texas limited liability company, owned by

Howard, with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.
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16.

Defendant OE Capital is a Texas limited liability company, owned by Howard,

with its principal place of business in Dallas, Texas.

Howard Operated the Funds through Howard Capital and OE Capital

17.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Since March 2015, Howard Capital and OE Capital have raised more than $13

million by selling securities in three Texas limited liability companies: CFG I, CFG II, and OE

Fund. Howard operated each of the three companies as an investment fund. Investors had no

control over the management of the Funds. They looked to Howard and his companies’

management to bring about fund success. And their sole contribution to the Funds was that of

money.

18.

specific amount raised:

For each fund, the table below sets out the offering period, investor count, and the

Fund Offering Period Investors Amount Raised
CFG1 March 2015 — January 2016 18 '$ 833,993
CFGII August 2015 — February 2016 36 $ 4,297,398
OE Fund February 2016 — December 2016 65 $ 7.960.585

Total: 119 $13,091,976
19. Howard managed the Funds personally and through Howard Capital and OE

Capital. Howard exercised ultimate authority over Howard Capital, OE Capital, and each of the

Funds, including their bank accounts, overall direction, the content of their public statements,

and the decision to disseminate such statements.

20.

Howard solicited investors in person and by telephone to raise the money for CFG

I. For CFG II and OE Fund, he retained C4 Benefits and Trajan Income to raise money by

soliciting investors. These companies raised money for those two Funds through May 2016, in

exchange for a 5% sales commission and other payments derived from the offering proceeds.




Case 3:17-cv-00420-L Document 2 Filed 02/14/17 Page 6 of 20 PagelD 8

Howard and sales agents he employed at OE Capital have also offered OE Fund Units for sale in
investor seminars and by email.

Written Offering Material

21.  Insoliciting investors for each of the Funds, Howard distributed a partnership
agreement and private-placement memorandum (“PPM”), describing the Fund, its management,
and its investment objectives. Howard personally distributed the CFG I PPM and partnership
agreement to investors. For the CFG II and OE Fund, he provided PPMs and partnership
agreements to C4 Benefits, Trajan Income, and other sales agents to disseminate to investors. He
also provided C4 Benefits, Trajan Income, and other sales agents a packet of OE Capital
marketing documents (the “Investor Packet™), which he updated from time to time, for use in
soliciting investors to purchase Fund Units. See Ex. 28 and 53. OE Capital employees also
disseminated the Investor Packet to investors.

22.  Although the language varied somewhat among the three PPMs, each one
provided that the fund would raise money by selling securities in the form of “membership units”
(“Units”) in the fund for $50,000 apiece. Each PPM provided that the investment had a three-
year term and specified the amount the fund sought to raise. This amount was $1 million for
CFG I and $10 million for CFG II and OE Fund.

The Funds’ Investment Objectives

23.  Each PPM provided that the fund would use proceeds from Unit sales to make
investments in third-party companies. The CFG I PPM specified that the fund would use the
offering proceeds “to purchase royalty revenue interest from CFG Inc. and its affiliates and
associates.” The CFG II and OE Fund PPMs provided that those funds would use the offering

proceeds to invest in unspecified third-party companies—referred to as “portfolio companies”™—
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in exchange for a right to receive a portion of the companies’ future revenue. A CFG1
partnership agreement and the PPMs for CFG II and OE Fund explained that the Funds stood to
profit as the portfolio companies paid the revenue interests that the funds were entitled to
receive.

24.  Inexchange for Units, investors paid their investment dollars over to the
Defendants, who pooled those investments into a fund. Collectively, investor fortunes were
dependent on the efforts and expertise of the Defendants. And the inventors’ role in the Funds
was entirely passive, limited to contributing money and expecting profits based upon the
Defendants’ efforts. Therefore, the Units were securities, specifically investment contracts.

25.  Diagram A below, from the OE Fund PPM, depicts OE Fund’s “Flow of Funds,”
showing that investors would purportedly earn investment returns as the portfolio companies
paid revenue into the fund. Although the diagram below relates specifically to the OE Fund, it

accurately illustrates the general investment structure common to all three Funds.
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Diagram A
Preferred Returns ‘
OE investor ; : \
Investment Capital
OE Capital Ventures LLC OE Capital Partners OE Capital Ventures LLC
Liquidity Holding Pool Profit Liquidity Holding Poo!
‘ e i ™~ Portfolio Company ’
\ \ A / Allocation of Funds
Revenue Capture éortfolio Company

\. Portfolio Company

Real Estate Assets

-~ Secured inventory

Promised Minimum Returns of 12% Annually

26.  Ineach fund, Defendants represented to investors that they would earn a
minimum return of 12% annually, paid quarterly. For the CFG I offering, Howard made this
representation in telephone calls to investors and in a CFG I partnership agreement that he
distributed to investors. PH Tr. at 78, 291; and see slides mentioned at 433. For CFG 1I and OE
Fund, he made this representation in their respective PPMs and in the Investor Packet.

27.  Defendants also financed a financed a radio-advertising campaign lasting

approximately nine months on stations in Tampa, Florida, where C4 Benefits had an office.
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These advertisements, which Howard reviewed and approved, likewise contained representations
that investors would earn a 12% annual return at a minimum.

Misuse of the Offering Proceeds

28.  Through Howard Capital and OE Capital, Howard knowingly, or with severe
recklessness, used the proceeds from Unit sales in each of the Funds contrary to representations
in the Investor Packet, the PPMs, and the partnership agreements.

Misappropriation of the CFG I Offering Proceeds

29.  Howard misappropriated and misapplied all of the $833,993 raised in the CFG I
offering. According to the CFG I PPM, the Fund intended to devote 89% of the offering
proceeds to investments in portfolio companies and just 9% to marketing and corporate
expenses. In reality, however, Howard directed approximately $290,000 (34% of the proceeds)
into Howard Capital’s bank account. He directed approximately $474,000 (57% of the proceeds)
to his former business partner’s company, which temporarily served as a managing member of
CFG 1. And he paid $50,000—just 5.9% of the offering proceeds—for a revenue interest in a
single company. Contrary to the CFG I PPM, however, this company was not associated with
CFG Inc. Howard spent the remainder of the CFG 1 offering proceeds on, among other things,
office rent and payroll. CFG I earned nothing from the $50,000 portfolio-company investment.

Misappropriation and Misapplication of the CFG Il and OF Fund Offering
Proceeds

30. Of the approximately $12.26 million raised in the CFG II and OE Fund offerings,
combined, Howard only invested approximately $7.4 million in portfolio companies. This
represents just 60% of the total proceeds raised in these two funds, far below the minimum 75%
represented in their PPMs. In addition, the CFG II PPM and OE Fund PPM limited spending for

corporate expenses to 18% and 20% of the offering proceeds, respectively. Howard exceeded
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these spending limits in both funds. Moreover, in addition to paying himself salary and bonus,
Howard transferred $226,000 to his personal bank account and paid an additional $197,000 to
buy out a former business partner who was temporarily associated with CFG 1.

31.  The CFG II PPM provided that the fund would use at least 2% of the offering
proceeds to purchase “whole life insurance contracts on the principals” of the portfolio
companies. But Howard exhausted all CFG IT offering proceeds without applying any funds to
purchase the promised insurance policies.

Ponzi Payments

32.  Howard used CFG II and OE Fund offering proceeds to make Ponzi payments.
As of December 31, 2016, these two funds had collectively received only $33,334 in revenues
from the approximately $7.4 million they had invested in portfolio companies—a return on the
investors’ capital of just 0.25%. Through the same date, however, Howard paid investors in the
three Funds combined a total of $169,000, purporting to be quarterly earnings distributions. Of
the $169,000 distributed, $146,000 constituted Ponzi payments: The CFG I investors received
money invested by CFG II and OE Fund investors. The CFG II investors received money
invested by later CFG Il investors and OE Fund investors. And the OE Fund investors received
money invested by later OE Fund investors.

Inability to Meet Financial Obligation to Investors

33.  Asof December 31, 2016, the Funds were collectively obligated to pay returns to
investors totaling more than $1 million, based on the minimum return of 12% per year. Under
the Funds’ combined earnings rate of 0.25% from inception through December 31, 2016, the
Funds were financially incapable of satisfying this $1 million obligation—whether in cash or in

reinvested dividends—within the three-year investment period. In fact, under the 0.25%

10
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earnings rate, it would take the Funds approximately 30 years just to pay the $1 million owed to
investors as of December 31, 2016.

34, Because he controlled Howard Capital, OF Capital, and the Funds, including their
bank accounts, Howard knew, or was severely reckless in not knowing, that the Funds’
combined earnings were insufficient to pay investors a 12% annual return within the three-year
investment period, that offering proceeds were misappropriated and misapplied, and that offering
proceeds were used to make Ponzi payments.

Untrue and Misleading Statements

12% Minimum Returns

35.  Throughout the fund offerings, Howard represented to investors that they would
receive minimum returns of 12% annually for three years. This representation was misleading
because it omitted to disclose that the Funds’ actual earnings—0.25%—were insufficient to pay
the returns as represented.

Phony Account Statements

36.  Through OE Capital, Howard sent investors account statements containing untrue
descriptions of the status of their investments. For each investor who elected to reinvest
quarterly distributions, the statement showed that the investor’s account had been credited with
the minimum return. These account statements were false. In reality, as mentioned above, the
Funds generated only $33,334 in earnings as of December 31, 2016, while the total reinvested
earnings was nearly $1 million. Therefore, no money was actually reinvested as represented.

37.  For those investors who received distribution payments, the statements described
these payments as a “Preferred Return” or “Yield Earned.” But the so-called Preferred Return or

Yield Earned was actually derived from payments made by other investors to purchase Units.

11
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Thus, the payments were Ponzi payments, not payments of earnings. The account statements
were false because they labeled Ponzi payments as a return or yield.
Registered Investment Adviser (“RIA”)

38.  The Investor Packet contained brief biographical information about Howard,
describing him as follows: “Patrick Howard . . . CEO, Optimal Economics, RIA.” This
statement was untrue. Howard has never been an RIA, registered either with the SEC or with
any state.

Commission and Salary Payments

39. On March 29, 2016, Howard signed filed a Notice of Exempt Offering of
Securities on Form D, which was filed on OE Fund’s behalf with the SEC on the same date. In
the Form D, Howard stated that no sales commissions would be paid and that no amounts would
be paid to executive officers. From OE Fund, however, Howard paid at least $175,000 in sales
commissions. He also transferred over $2 million from OE Fund to OE Capital, from which he
personally received salary and other payments.

OE Capital Average Growth

40. OE Capital represented to investors that the Funds’ minimum annual return was
12%, but that they were actually earning 20% on average. The Investor Packet, reviewed and
approved by Howard, contained a chart comparing the Funds to other investment vehicles such
as 401Ks, money market funds, and IRAs, among others. A copy of the chart, below, shows OE
Capital earning an average 20% growth compared to a 1-8% average growth for the other
investment vehicles. In reality, OE Capital based the 20% return on forecast modeling, but failed
to disclose that it was a forecast, not a reflection of actual results. In reality, the 20% return

forecast was false. It had no reasonable basis, as demonstrated by the Funds’ actual rate growth

12
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rate—0.25%.

Acceptable Investment Accounts

Account Type Avg. Taxes Applied Early Option Liquid
Growth Upon Withdrawal for
Withdrawal Fees Income

Money Markets 3% Income Tax No Yes Yes

401K 5% Income Tax Yes No No

IRA 6-8% income Tax Yes No No

Fixed Annuity 2-3% Income Tax Yes No No

4038 4-5% Income Tax Yes No No

Savings 1.00% None No Yes Yes

Mutual Funds * Non- Capital Gains

Qualified 6-8% Tax No Yes Yes

CDs 1.00% Income Tax Yes No No

Capital Gains
Real Estate 3-4% Tax No Yes No
OECP Benefits 20% Capital Gains No Yes Quarterly Distribution
Tax 12% preferred yield &
share in waterfall 80/20
annually up to 20%, or
reinvest for compound
principle after 3 yrs.

Insurance-Based Assets

41.  Howard made misleading statements about insurance to give the appearance that
the Unit investment was safe. The CFG I partnership contract referred to the offering proceeds
as “insured liquidity.” The OE Fund PPM contained a statement that the fund depended on
“insurance based assets purchased to offset company underperformance.” In the CFG II PPM
and the Investor Packet, Howard expressly emphasized the importance of insurance-based assets
in mitigating the risk of an otherwise speculative investment, stating:

The purchase of Units is a speculative investment. However, the Company is

backing the minimum preferred yield and principal with insurance based assets.

While this should not be considered a guarantee, the company separates the risk

of the underlying assets, from the return of the investor. Therefore, there is

assurance of the return of principal and minimum yield distribution.

42.  Inreality, insurance provided no assurance of the return of principal and

minimum yield distribution, and the statements regarding insured liquidity and insurance-based

assets were untrue. They simply referred to Howard’s idea to purchase life insurance covering

13
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the portfolio companies’ key officers. Not until December 28, 2016, however, did any such
insurance policy exist. On that date, OE Capital purchased a life-insurance policy on a single
portfolio-company officer. From the first fund’s inception through December 27, 2016, the
promised minimum return was never insured or otherwise backed with insurance-based assets,
nor did the Funds “backstop portfolio underperformance” with such assets.

43.  Moreover, insuring the life of a portfolio-company officer would provide no
protection against risk caused by factors other than officer death, such as competition,
undercapitalization, officer incompetence, or mismanagement. The claim that insurance-based
assets provided assurance of principal and yield was therefore misleading.

Real Estate

44.  In a section titled “Risk Mitigation,” the OE Fund PPM stated that “OE Capital
Partners does not solely depend on insurance based assets as a backstop to portfolio
underperformance. Other assets classes such as real estate and inventory holdings back the
capital injections into portfolio companies.” In addition, the Investor Packet contained a pie
chart including real estate as a slice of the portfdlio-asset management strategy. Under the pie
chart, it said, “[o]ur portfolio investment strategy distributes investment funds into portfolio
companies, insured liquidity assets and stop loss real estate to achieve a dynamic approach for
growth.” These statements were untrue. In reality, neither OE Capital nor the Funds ever
purchased any real estate.

Signed Contracts

45.  InMarch 2016, OE Capital provided existing and prospective investors an Annual

Report for 2015. In an executive-summary section, the Annual Report, stated, “This financial

report is done in conjunction with” a specified certified public accounting firm. In a section

14
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discussing “Risk Coverage,” it stated, “Risk is relatively low when comparing Total Capital
Acquired ($4,371,859) to Total Asset Based Valuation ($7,590,604),” parentheses in original.
Among OE Capital’s total assets, the Annual Report included “signed contracts” purportedly
valued at $6,348,200.

46.  The Annual Report was misleading. The $6,348,200 signed-contract value was
assigned by Howard, not by the certified public accounting firm or by any indépendent appraisal
of the contracts. The Annual Report omitted to disclose that Howard assigned the contract value.
By omitting this disclosure while stating that the Annual Report was made “in conjunction with”
the certified public accounting firm, the Annual Report conveyed the misleading impression that
the certified public accounting firm agreed with the valuation.

Materiality

47. A reasonable investor would have considered the actual use of the Funds’
proceeds and their actual earnings rate important—that is, material—in making an investment
decision about the Funds. Likewise a reasonable investor would have considered the statements
described above as untrue, false, or misleading important in making an investment decision
about the Funds.

Scienter

48.  When engaged in the conduct described above and when making the statements
described above as untrue, false, or misleading, Howard possessed scienter, a mental state
embracing intent to deceive, manipulate, or defraud.

FIRST CLAIM
Fraud
Violations of Securities Act Section 17(a) [15 U.S.C. § 77q(a)] against

Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital

49.  Plaintiff Commission re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 48 of this

15
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Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim in this Claim.

50.  Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and O Capital directly or indirectly, singly
or in concert with others, in the offer or sale of securities, by use of the means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce or by use of the mails have: (a) employed devices,
schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) obtained money or property by means of untrue statements
of a material fact and omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c)
engaged in transactions, practices, and courses of business which operate or would operate as a
fraud and deceit upon the purchasers.

51.  With respect to violations of Securities Act Section 17(a)(1), Defendants Howard,
Howard Capital, and OE Capital engaged in the foregoing conduct and made the foregoing
untrue and misleading statements knowingly or with severe recklessness.

52.  With respect to violations of Securities Act Sections 17(a)(2), Defendants
Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital knew or should have known that they obtained money
or property by means of untrue statements of a material fact and omitted to state a material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they
were made, not misleading.

53.  With respect to violations of Securities Act Sections 17(a)(3), Defendants
Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital knew or should have known that they engaged in
transactions, practices, and courses of business which operate or would operate as a fraud and
deceit upon the purchasers.

54. For these reasons, Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital have

violated and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Securities Act Section 17(a) [15 U.S.C. §

16
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77q(2)].
- SECOND CLAIM
Fraud
Violations of Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)] and
Rule 10b-5[17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5] against Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital

55.  Plaintiff Commission re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 48 of this
Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim in this Claim.

56. Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital, directly or indirectly,
singly or in concert with others, in connection with the purchase or sale of securities, by use of
the means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce or by use of the mails have: (a)
employed devices, schemes, and artifices to defraud; (b) made untrue statements of a material
fact and omitted to state a material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in light
of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and (c) engaged in acts,
practices, and courses of business which operate or would operate as a fraud and deceit upon
purchasers, prospective purchasers, and any other persons.

57.  Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital engaged in the above-
referenced conduct and made the above-referenced untrue and misleading statements knowingly
or with severe recklessness.

58. For these reasons, Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital violated
and, unless enjoined, will continue to violate Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)]
and Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5].

THIRD CLAIM
Securities Registration
Violations of Securities Act Sections 5(a) and 5(c) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a) and 77e (c)]

against Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital

59.  Plaintiff Commission re-alleges and incorporates paragraphs 1 through 48 of this

17
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Complaint by reference as if set forth verbatim in this Claim.

60.  Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE Capital, directly or indirectly,
singly or in concert with others, have offered to sell, sold, and delivered after sale, certain
securities and have (a) made use of the means and instruments of transportation and
communication in interstate commerce and of the mails to sell securities, through the use of
email, interstate carrier, brokerage transactions, and otherwise; (b) carried and caused to be
carried through the mails and in interstate commerce by the means and instruments of
transportation such securities for the purpose of sale and for delivery after sale; and (c) made use
of the means or instruments of transportation and communication in interstate commerce and of
the mails to offer to sell such securities.

61. By reason of the foregoing, Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, and OE
Capital, have violated, and unless enjoined will continue to violate, Securities Act Sections 5(a)
and 5(c) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77¢(a) and 77¢ (¢)].

RELIEF REQUESTED

Plaintiff SEC respectfully requests that this Court:

1. Permanently enjoin Defendants Howard, Howard Capital, OF Capital from
violating Securities Act Sections 5(a), 5(c), and 17(a) [15 U.S.C. §§ 77e(a), 77¢(c), and 77q(a)],
Exchange Act Section 10(b) [15 U.S.C. § 78j(b)], and Exchange Act Rule 10b-5 [17 C.F.R. §
240.10b-5];

2. Order each Defendant to disgorge:

a. the amount equal to the funds and benefits obtained illegally by the
Defendant, or

b. the amount which the Defendant is otherwise found jointly and severally

18
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liable to disgorge,
as a result of the violations alleged, plus prejudgment interest on that amount;
3. Order each Defendant to pay a civil money penalty in an amount determined
appropriate by the Court under Securities Act Section 20(d) [15 U.S.C. § 77t(d)] and Exchange

Act Section 21(d) [15 U.S.C. § 78u(d)] for the violations alleged herein; and

4. Order such other relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
DATED: February 14,2017 Respectfully submitted,
('\w@ﬁg A V”—" (0['«

Timothy S. McCole
Mississippi Bar No. 10628
B. DAVID FRASER

Texas Bar No. 24012654
SCOTT MASCIANICA
Texas Bar No. 24072222
United States Securities and Exchange Commission
Fort Worth Regional Office
Burnett Plaza, Suite 1900
801 Cherry Street, Unit #18
Fort Worth, TX 76102-6882
Phone: 817-978-6453

Fax: 917-978-4927
mccolet@sec.gov
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